


<This is the 2nd Complaint regarding Amira Fox.  The fist complaint was dated 11/25/2024 and concerns improper/unlawful 
initiation of a court case via corrupt means.  This Complaint addresses illegal conduct in violation of the jurisdiction of the 
Federal courts and an illegal scheme to evade federal court jurisdiction.>

1. On June 26, 2017 at 5:02 p.m., Huminski v. Town of Gilbert, AZ, 17-ca-421 (20th Circuit Court) 

was removed to the United States District Court (Bankruptcy Unit) (M.D. Fla.).  See e-filing 

time stamp (the ink faded on the manual stamp).

The federal docketing information correctly stating “Date Removed from State: 06/26/2017” is as 

follows:
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2. On the 29th of June, 2017 Amira Fox had scheduled an “arraignment” hearing in the civil 

case Huminski v. Town of Gilbert and her subordinate, Anthony Kunasek attended for the State 

under her direction.  The State of Florida was not a party in the civil case.  Despite the fact the 

Circuit Court matter and all issues therein (including show cause contempt orders) had been 

completely divested of jurisdiction from the State Court by federal removal, Amira Fox 

instructed Anthony Kunasek to litigate the case as if the removal to Federal Court never 

happened in bold criminal contempt of the United States District Court.  A federal injunction 
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also existed staying the State case furthering Amira Fox’s contempt of the federal courts and 

Due Process violations.  One can not litigate a stayed or removed case.

Amira Fox and her willing assistant, Anthony Kunasek, proceeded with the lengthy hearing on 

the 29th despite their full knowledge of the removal as filed in both the Federal and State Circuit Court 

on the 26th and they continued to litigate a non-existent case in the State Circuit Court in violation of 

Due Process and in violation of federal criminal law. 18 U.S.C. §  241 (conspiracy against rights).  The 

Federal Courts retained jurisdiction over Huminski v. Gilbert until August of 2017 (remand) while 

Amira Fox was concurrently litigating the same claims in State Court in violation of rudimentary 

jurisdictional precepts, the Supremacy Clause and Due Process.

Amira Fox revealed an incredible disrespect for the powers, authority and jurisdiction of the 

Federal Court system and the Supremacy Clause to the United States Constitution with her continued 

pursuit of a case stayed by federal injunction (April 2017) and ultimately removed to federal court three 

(3) days prior to “arraignment” at the 29th hearing.  The claims and liabilities presented in Huminski v. 

Gilbert became part of the estate in bankruptcy and the litigation was stayed under 11 U.S.C. § 362 in 

April 2017. (https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/11/362)  Amira Fox’s participation in the hearing 

on the 29th constituted violation of a federal injunction that issued along with the filing of bankruptcy in 

April 2017. (the automatic stay 11 U.S.C. § 362)  Court orders, federal judges, federal injunctions and 

federal jurisdiction are all victims of Amira Fox’s malicious and deviant conduct using the justice 

system for nefarious personal reasons and the pursuit of bad faith lawfare / weaponized justice.

Ms. Fox’s disdain for the powers, authority and jurisdiction of the Federal courts materialized in 

this case as bankruptcy crimes and federal civil rights crimes.  

Why the State of Florida, Amira Fox and Anthony Kunasek appeared at all in a case whereby 

they were not parties on 6/29/2017 is a mystery to this complainant.  The full docket shines no light on 

just why did the State of Florida attend a hopelessly void and null hearing in a Court that had been 

divested of all jurisdiction. Lawfare and weaponized justice to obtain a pound of flesh may be the only 

explanation.  Ms. Fox will have to explain what her motive was to violate Federal jurisdiction and a 

federal injunction at the hearing of 6/29/2017 in violation of bedrock American jurisprudence. 

The entire transcript of the 6/29/2017 hearing and prior filing of removal notices is located at 

the 2407 page record,

https://edca.2dca.org/DcaDocs/2019/1914/2019-1914_Brief_530010_RC09.pdf
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https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/11/362
https://edca.2dca.org/DcaDocs/2019/1914/2019-1914_Brief_530010_RC09.pdf


or
https://web.archive.org/web/20201005171650/https://edca.2dca.org/DcaDocs/2019/1914/2019-
1914_Brief_530010_RC09.pdf

or
https://www.indybay.org/uploads/2024/11/25/record_on_appeal_2019-1914_comp64mb.pdf

The very next day following the hearing of the 29th a new case State v. Huminski, 17-mm-815, 

appeared in the Lee County Court criminal docket on June 30, 2017. The mysterious appearance of this 

“criminal” case simply and transparently reveals Amira Fox’s fraudulent attempt to evade the 

jurisdiction of the federal courts in criminal contempt of the federal Courts.  This prosecutorial use of 

an unsavory unknown mechanism that makes criminal cases magically appear in criminal dockets 

requires the assistance of clerks/courthouse staff.  A per se conspiracy exists to evade the proper and 

lawful jurisdiction of the federal courts concerning Ms. Fox’s conduct that began the same week as the 

federal removal (divesting the State Courts of jurisdiction).  Had Amira Fox waited 2 months until the 

remand of the case from federal court back to State Court to continue her prosecutorial schemes, the 

respect for the federal courts, federal judges and the federal injunction would have been preserved and 

there would be no Amira Fox contempt of the federal courts, their jurisdiction, their injunctions or 

violation of federal criminal statutes.  It is highly likely State crimes were violated concerning the 

docketing and commencement of the new case in Lee County Court that was required pursuant to 

Amira Fox’s illegal scheme to evade federal jurisdiction in a removed case.  Ms. Fox’s conduct did 

yeild a financial windfall for her government from fines, fees and penalties achieved in the matter. 

The presiding judge did go along with the lawfare of Amira Fox at the hearing of the 29th, 

however, after the complainant blasted an email to a large number of attorneys in the 20th Circuit, the 

judge recused from the case apparently realizing the corruption surrounding the initiation of the case 

and the absence of any and all jurisdiction.  Ms. Fox had no such enlightened epiphany.
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